IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES FRANKLIN ROSE,)
Appellant,)
vs.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)

CASE NO: 63,996

FILED

DEC 5 1983 ✓

SID J. WHITE
CLERK SUPREME COURT
Sidney White
Lieut. Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender

LOUIS G. CARRES
Assistant Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
224 Datura Street/13th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(305) 837-2150

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a sentence imposing the death penalty rendered July 15, 1983, in the Circuit Court of Broward County, Florida. (R-944-947). Notice of appeal was timely filed July 15, 1983 (R-948). The jurisdiction of this Court is based upon Article V, Section 3B 1, Florida Constitution (1972).

References to the record on appeal from the sentencing hearing held on remand from this Court's decision of December 9, 1982, will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

References to the original record on appeal in this Court's case number 51,724, will be referred to by the symbol OR followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

All emphasis supplied to quotations contained in this brief will be denoted by the symbol "E.S." following the quotation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a sentence imposing the death penalty rendered July 15, 1983, in the Circuit Court of Broward County, Florida (R-944-947). Notice of appeal was timely filed July 15, 1983 (R-948).

Appellant was originally tried by jury in Broward County, Florida, in March of 1977, which resulted in a mistrial due to a hung jury on a question of guilt or innocence (R-77-78). Following the hung jury mistrial, the trial judge changed venue to the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County, Florida (R-79). Trial by jury was held in May of 1977, resulting in verdicts finding appellant guilty of kidnapping as charged in Count I of the indictment and finding appellant guilty of murder in the first degree as charged in Count II of the indictment (R-105-106). On May 13, 1977, the trial court sentenced appellant to life imprisonment on Count I and imposed the death sentence on Count II (R-131-137). On direct appeal to this Court the judgments of conviction were affirmed in an opinion issued December 9, 1982, but the death sentence was vacated and the cause remanded for a new sentencing proceeding before a jury. Rose v. State, Case No. 51,724, page 7 of slip opinion. The remand for a new jury sentencing proceeding was occasioned by the fact that the trial court gave the jury deadlock charge, known as the "Allen charge" during the penalty phase of the trial after the jury had advised the trial court via note stating that the jury was tied six to six and requesting further instructions. Rose v. State, supra, page 7 of slip opinion. A new jury was impaneled on July 5, 1983, to hear the testimony from the second

trial held in Hillsborough County, Florida, in May of 1977, read to them and for the purpose of returning a recommendation as to penalty. Additional evidence was presented by the state and by appellant, following the reading of the transcript, and the jury returned a recommendation by a vote of eleven to one for the death penalty to be imposed (R-934). On July 15, 1983, the trial court made findings of fact that the jury had recommended the death sentence in an advisory verdict, that the crime for which appellant is to be sentenced was committed while he was under sentence of imprisonment, that appellant had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, the court noted that it was aware that appellant had been convicted on two other occasions for non-violent felonies, and the court found that pursuant to the statute there were no mitigating circumstances present in the case (R-944-946). The trial court imposed the death sentence upon appellant, concurrently with the life sentence for kidnapping which had previously been imposed (R-946). Notice of appeal was timely filed on the same date (R-948).

Various motions were filed by appellant and legal issues raised during the proceedings on remand which, for clarity, will be listed in the Statement of the Facts portion of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the opinion of December 9, 1982, the court set forth the facts upon which the convictions rested. The death sentence was vacated and the cause remanded to the trial court for further proceedings on grounds set forth by the court as follows:

Defendant also challenges his death sentence. He contends that the trial court reversibly erred in giving the 'Allen charge' during the penalty phase of the trial. We agree. The record indicates that the charge was given after the jury advised the court by a note which read, 'We are tied six to six, and no one will change their mind at the moment. Please instruct us.' At that point, the trial judge should have advised the jury that it was not necessary to have a majority reach a sentencing recommendation because, if seven jurors do not vote to recommend death, then the recommendation is life imprisonment. There was no reason to give the 'Allen' charge during the penalty phase of the trial. We therefore vacate the death sentence and hold that defendant is entitled to a new sentencing proceeding before a jury. In light of this deposition, we find it unnecessary to resolve the remaining challenges to the death sentence raised by defendant.

Rose v. State, supra, slip opinion at page 7.

At the original jury sentencing proceeding a six to six tie resulted, which this Court held in its prior decision in this case to be a recommendation for a life imprisonment. The trial court in the original sentence to death found two aggravating circumstances, (1) that the appellant had previously been convicted of a crime involving the use or threat of violence, and (2) that the capital felony was committed during a kidnapping (R-131-135). Upon remand the jury returned a verdict recommending the death sentence and the trial court found three aggravating circumstances, again finding the two previously found

and adding the additional finding that the appellant was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time the capital felony was committed (R-944-947). In both sentencing orders the trial court found no mitigating circumstances pursuant to the statute (OR-133-134; R-946).

At the sentencing hearing on remand the trial court instructed on only three aggravating circumstances and as to two of those circumstances the court instructed the jury that the facts constituted the aggravating circumstance (R-927-928). Over objection by appellant's counsel the court advised the jury that a crime committed while a person is on parole is committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment (R-927). The court further instructed the jury that the crime of breaking and entering with intent to commit a felony, to wit: rape, is a felony involving the use or threat of violence to another person (R-927). The other aggravating circumstance on which the court instructed the jury was that is is an aggravating circumstance if the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission of the crime of kidnapping (R-928).

At the resentencing before the jury the state introduced into evidence over timely objection the information and judgment and sentence in case no. 71-17071, State v. Rose, showing a prior conviction for breaking and entering with intent to commit a felony, to wit: rape (R-698-699). Appellant objected to introduction of those documents in evidence because the judgment was not for a felony involving actual violence or threat of violence to another person, based on Mann v. State, 420 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1982) (R-924-925). Appellant also objected to introduction

of the documents relating to burglaries with intent to commit theft because he had waived the mitigating circumstance of lack of a substantial prior history of criminal activity (R-57-58, 698-700).

The trial judge refused several requests by appellant to instruct the jury on the definition of homicide and the elements of first degree murder both felony and premeditated because it was unknown which basis the jury verdict of guilty was based upon (R-235, 820-821, 823). The trial court denied their request to tell the jury about the definition of homicide and first degree murder on the ground that it was not relevant (R-823).

Appellant objected to evidence of any additional aggravating circumstances than the ones which were found in the original sentencing findings (R-833). This was the subject of a pretrial motion as well (R-917-918). The court denied appellant's motion stating that this would give the defendant something else to appeal (R-37). Appellant renewed his objection at the time of the jury instruction conference at which point it was again denied (R-699-700).

Appellant also requested that the trial court instruct the jury on circumstantial evidence in view of the fact that the prosecuting attorney referred in his opening statement to the evidence being circumstantially sufficient (R-820-821). This request was denied (R-820-821).

During the prosecutor's opening statement reference was made to the state not being able to prove the cold, calculated or premeditated factor because "only one person knows for sure exactly how this crime was committed and that's the accused." (R-247).

Appellant requested a pre-sentence investigation to be made to cover the period from 1977 onward in order to show the appellant's adjustment, his record and behavior during the six plus years of incarceration (R-38). This motion was denied (R-39).

Appellant moved for the trial court to impose a life recommendation on this case on the ground that the error which the Supreme Court found in vacating the original death sentence occurred after the jury had reported in writing to the trial court that it was deadlocked six-six on the penalty question and that the error occurred after the jury reported the tie vote which this Court subsequently held, in its decision originally in this case, to constitute a recommendation for life imprisonment (R-45). The appellant argued that because of the fact that no error occurred until after the jury had made its report of a tie vote that the recommendation given in 1977 was a good recommendation and that the court should construe it as a life recommendation (R-45). The prosecutor objected on the ground that the trial court was bound by the mandate, and the motion was denied (R-45).

Appellant made a motion for discovery relating to sentencing, and the prosecuting attorney agreed at the hearing in provide discovery (R-36).

During the prosecutor's closing argument at the penalty phase he argued by use of the vials containing tissue samples and stated: "These two objects right here, ..., this is Lisa Berry, or part of her. And somebody helped her speak to us through these two items." (R-842). The prosecutor further argued that "She spoke to us" through the pants, through through the blouse, through the autopsy, and through the injuries (R-842-843). The prosecutor offered his personal opinion on the evidence stating Dr. Davis and Dr. Wright's testimony had little to do with anything because, "[I]n my opinion, and obviously in the opinion of the prior jury, [Mr. Rose] committed the crime of murder while he was engaged in the act of kidnapping Lisa Berry." (R-844).

ISSUE I

THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY SENTENCING PROCEEDING BECAUSE THE STATE EXERCISED ITS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE PRIVILEGE TO EXCLUDE THE ONLY PROSPECTIVE JUROR WHO, WHILE QUALIFIED TO SERVE, WAS CONCERNED THAT THE DEATH PENALTY BE APPLIED ONLY IN EXTREMELY, EXTREMELY HEINOUS CASES.

During the jury selection in this case Mrs. Marcus expressed during voir dire that she had reservations about wanting to sit on the jury in a capital case. She stated that she would not like to sit on the jury in this case and that she would be uncomfortable (R-210-211). She explained that in other cases that she had seen in her life that they were extremely, extremely heinous for the death penalty to result (R-210-211):

If the crime was not heinous, cruel or atrocious, but you found that there were two or three other aggravating circumstances and no evidence in mitigation at all, do you feel that you could, in any event, come back with a recommendation for death?

MS. MARCUS: It would make me very uncomfortable to have to do that in any circumstance.

MR. RAY: Would you prefer, due to the unique nature of this proceeding and your feelings on capital punishment, not to be asked to sit?

MS. MARCUS: Yes.

MR. RAY: Okay.

Your Honor, the State would excuse Mrs. Marcus.

THE COURT: Thank you, ma'am. If you would be kind enough to go back downstairs, ma'am.

Juror Number 24, Victor McIntosh, would you take seat four for me, please, sir.

However, on her voir dire she expressed no inability to follow the law, nor any beliefs against the death penalty which would prevent her from following the law.

During the jury selection for this case Mrs. Marcus was the only prospective juror who expressed reservations about the proper use of the death penalty. The other prospective jurors stated, in varying ways, that they had either no reservations about the death penalty or would have "no problem" in voting for the death penalty. None of the jurors were voir dired concerning their ability to recommend life imprisonment according to the court's instructions in a case where first degree murder had occurred. Thus Mrs. Marcus was the sole individual to provide balance in making this jury a representative and the cross-section of the community.

As shown by the above quoted question, the prosecuting attorney, before asking Mrs. Marcus whether she would rather not sit, asked Mrs. Marcus if she could vote for death if the crime were not heinous, cruel or atrocious, thus violating the rule that on voir dire a jury should not be asked how he or she would vote on a specific set of facts (R-210).

It is now axiomatic that the jury recommendation in a capital case is for the purpose of representing the conscience of the community. It being essential therefore that the jury be chosen in a manner providing that it can represent a fair cross-section of the community, an excusal by use of a peremptory challenge, just as with a challenge for cause, can deprive the defendant of a jury chosen from a true cross-section of the community. In Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, (1968), the

Supreme Court declared that jury selection procedures which prevent those jurors who are able to follow the law from serving on juries in capital cases would prevent defendants from receiving due process of law. No death sentence imposed as a result of a jury so selected can be affirmed. Davis v. Georgia, 429 U.S. 122 (1976).

The Supreme Court decided in Witherspoon v. Illinois that jurors who have scruples against the broadest use of the death penalty, but who are nevertheless not so rigid in their beliefs that they are unable to follow the law to sit impartially in the case, constitute a cognizable group within our society. No systematic exclusion nor absolute exclusion of such persons can be tolerated. Florida's statute has no provision to permit such use of challenges for cause. See Section 913.03, Florida Statutes (1981). Nor does the history of the state's privilege to exercise peremptory challenges permit them to be used to accomplish the same exclusion, as is explained by this Court in Mathis v. State, 31 Fla. 291, 12 So. 681 (1893), where the historical origin and development of the peremptory challenge was set out, 12 So. at 688:

Originally, at common law, the crown had an unlimited number of peremptory challenges, and in any any criminal case might, by exercising this right, indefinitely postpone the trial pro defectu juratorum. During the reign of Edward I. a statute was passed depriving the king of the right to any challenges except for cause; but under this statute the practice obtained not to compel the crown to show cause against a juror at the time of his challenge, but he was directed by the court to stand aside until the entire panel was gone over, or until enough jurors without objection had been found to make out the requisite number. The defendant was required to challenge or accept the qualified jurors tendered him, and if, after exhausting

his peremptory challenges, a sufficient number of persons remaining on the list could be procured that were unobjectionable, these were selected, but in case of deficiency the crown was then required to show cause in respect to those jurors who had been directed to stand aside. (e.s.) If the Court does not accept the assertion that Witherspoon declares such jurors to be a cognizable group in the context of death penalty trials, then the issue is a question of fact. Hernandez v. Texas, 347 U.S. 475 (1954). This Court held in Williams v. State, 228 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1969), that Florida had long recognized that to be a fact, long before Witherspoon. The exclusion of the only person with reservations about the degree of aggravation needed to warrant a death sentence is improper in Florida where our statute "does not preclude one who may find an accused guilty but who has reservations against infliction of the death penalty itself." Wilson v. State, 225 So.2d 321 (Fla. 1969). In Hawkins v. Wainwright, 245 So.2d 865 (Fla. 1971), the Court noted that systematic exclusion is prohibited. The use of peremptory challenge can violate the 6th and 14th Amendments where "the regular practice or custom involving the use of peremptory challenges results in an effective disenfranchisement of a particular class of persons from serving...." United States v. Carlton, 456 F.2d 207, 208 (5th Cir. 1972). Thus under Swain v. Alabama, 308 U.S. 202 (1965), the presumption that prosecutor uses his peremptories to obtain a fair and impartial jury does not apply to death penalty proceedings where the result outlawed by Witherspoon is obtained. The nature of the challenge is irrelevant when it is clear that the purpose of the exercised peremptory was to exclude all such persons.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR JURY PROCEEDING ON THE QUESTION OF PENALTY BY DENYING HIS MOTION THAT THE JURY BE INSTRUCTED ON THE DEFINITION OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, BOTH FELONY AND PREMEDITATED, IN ORDER FOR THE JURY TO UNDERSTAND THE ALTERNATIVE WAYS IN WHICH THE CRIME, FOR WHICH THEY WOULD RECOMMEND A PENALTY, COULD HAVE BEEN COMMITTED.

Appellant timely requested in writing that the trial court read the definition to the jury of murder thus explaining to the jury that first degree murder consists of both felony murder and premeditated murder in order for the jury to understand the alternative ways in which the crime could have been committed in this case (R-235). Appellant's request was denied and appellant renewed his request at the charge conference and argued again at the time the instructions were given that the court should instruct the jury on the definition of felony- and premeditated murder (R-820-823).

Appellant was correct in arguing that the jury in this case was entitled to understand, and that appellant would be prejudiced by the jury not being instructed upon, the alternative factual ways in which the crime of first degree murder could have occurred in this case. The jury that returned the verdicts of guilty did not make any finding, nor was any alternative verdict form provided, from which it could be determined if the verdict was based upon felony murder or a finding of premeditated murder. The capital felony in this case as supported by this Court's original affirmance of appellant's conviction of kidnapping could have been based upon a felony murder theory.

Rose v. State at p.5 of slip opinion.

The jury is entitled to know, and must know in order to properly perform its function, the legal significance of the facts and circumstances. Otherwise jury has no adequate basis to measure greater or lesser culpability or the relative weight of the aggravation. Whether the evidence was sufficiently strong for a satisfactory conclusion of premeditated murder or whether the conviction rested more heavily on a finding of felony-murder alone was not irrelevant to this jury's function.

Even though it is possible for a "felony-murder" to be premeditated yet committed during the commission of a felony, this possibility does not obviate the need for the jury to understand the alternative ways in which the conviction for first degree murder could have been based. The jury was not adequately informed that all unlawful homicide is not first degree murder nor that two varying types of first degree murder exist in Florida, each with distinct factual elements.

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