IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES	FRANKLIN ROSE,)			
	Appellant,)			
vs.)	CASE	NO.	63,996
STATE	OF FLORIDA,)			
	Appellee.)			

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

By Chief Deput Clerk

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER ROSSIN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

<u>other witnesses</u> you would call, except

Judy Schilling.

MR. RAY (Assistant State Attorney): Well, if I find them, I would certainly give them to you. I have no problem with that.

(R 36-37)

It is clear that the assistant state attorney only assured defense counsel of his willingness to comply with discovery by updating his list of witnesses. The assistant state attorney had specifically stated that he was not required to supply Appellant with a list of the aggravating circumstances on which he intended to rely (R 36).

This court has held previously in a capital case that admission of evidence that a defendant was on parole was proper. <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1981). Accordingly, there was no error committed by admitting the parole certificate.

POINT VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PREJUDICIALLY ERR IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S OBJECTION TO A QUESTION POSED BY APPELLANT'S COUNSEL TO ONE OF HIS WITNESSES.

The State would first point out that this court is precluded from considering this issue on appeal where Appellant made no proffer of what Mr. Templeton's testimony regarding Appellant's priof conviction may have been. Bennett v. State, 405 So.2d 265 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); Miller v. State, So.2d , (Fla. 4th DCA Nov. 2, 1983) [8 FLW 2664]. The questions objected to are at pages 723 and 724 of the record.

Moreover, even had this issue been properly preserved, any possible error caused by the trial court's exercise of its discretion must be harmless in light of the totality of the proceeding. The State would remind this court that the trial court found three aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances in imposing the death penalty. This finding of a lack of mitigating circumstances was despite Appellant putting on eight witnesses on his own behalf. Considering the proceeding as a whole, even had Appellant properly proffered the testimony, its exclusion would be harmless error.

POINT VIII

(Consolidating Appellant's Issue XVI)

WHERE THIS COURT REMANDED THIS CAUSE FOR A NEW SENTENCING PROCEEDING, IT HAS AL-READY DECIDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE FIRST JURY RECOMMENDATION OF DEATH IS NOT CONTROLLING, A LIFE SENTENCE WAS NEVER RECOMMENDED AND IS NOT MANDATED.

Appellant's argument is founded upon a misconception: that a note with a jury question to the trial judge during the first sentencing proceeding was a recommendation for life imprisonment. Appellee maintains that this is clearly not the case, and this court has already decided the issue against Appellant's contentions.

The note passed to the trial judge by the original sentencing jury read: "We are tied six to six, and no one will change their mind at the moment. Please instruct us."

Rose, supra at 525 (OR 1303). This was certainly not an advisory sentence sufficient to meet the requirements of \$921.141(2), Fla. Stat. (1981). This court has so held when it remanded this case for a new sentencing proceeding. Id.

As such, this court's interpretation is the law of the case, and cannot be changed now. The trial judge correctly interpreted the meaning of the note although not the law. He stated:

"If they had told me definitely they were unable to arrive at an advisory sentence, then I would of course, have to dismiss the panel ..." (OR 1303).

Harich v. State, 437 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1983), cited by Appellant, involved a situation where during the instructions to the jury, the trial judge gave an inconsistent instruction.

Although he gave the correct instruction from Florida Standard Jury Instructions (Criminal) Penalty Proceedings - Capital Cases, (rev. June 1981) correctly indicating that "if by six or more votes the jury determines that the defendant should not be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be: The jury advises and recommends to the court that it impose a sentence of life ... ", but also said: "[w]hen seven or more of you are in agreement as to what sentence should be recommended to the court ... Id. at 1086. In Harich, this court found that under the facts peculiar to that case, where the vote was nine to three for death, there was no prejudice to the appellant. However, Harich adds nothing new to the consideration of the instant case where although we know that the original jury voted by a majority for death, we do not know the exact vote. Therefore, a new sentencing proceeding was proper. The second jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of eleven to one.

Appellant's reliance on case law to support the proposition that a trial court should not make findings contrary to that of a jury is also misplaced. In the case at bar, there was no recommendation of life imprisonment. Nor are there any constitutional problems with a death sentence in this case.

Appellant again argues that the second jury proceeding was improper where the jury was not instructed on the elements of homicide. Where guilt was not at issue, and there was no reliance on the aggravating circumstance of premeditation there was no need for the instruction. See Issue II, supra.

There has been no violation of the double jeopardy clause for a new sentencing proceeding to have taken place. Where a defendant takes an appeal from a judgment and sentence, he waives his claim of double jeopardy. State v. Cappetta, 395 So.2d 283 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). Failure to raise the issue below waives the right to present it on appeal. Bell v. State, 262 So.2d 244 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). §921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (1981) allows for a new jury to be impaneled under Chapter 913, Fla. Stat. (1981) if the original jury panel is not available to make a sentencing recommendation. This certainly contemplates the situation where, as here, a case is remanded for a new sentencing proceeding after review by this court.

The new sentencing proceeding was proper, and the jury's recommendation of the death penalty, reflected in the trial court's findings of fact must stand.

POINT IX

THE COURT DID NOT ERR PREJUDICIALLY BY SUSTAINING A STATE OBJECTION TO A HYPOTHETICAL QUESTION POSED BY APPELLANT TO HIS EXPERT WITNESS.

Appellant argues that he was prejudiced by the lower court sustaining a State objection to the hypothetical basis of a question from Appellant's counsel to an expert witness (AB 30). Once again, the State would point out that Appellant's failure to request a proffer of the excluded testimony precludes consideration of the issue on appeal. Bennett v. State, supra; Miller v. State, supra. This court has no basis for deciding the magnitude of any alleged error where it has no knowledge of what the excluded testimony would have been. Appellant mentions in his brief that he has proffered what the testimony of Dr. Wright would be at his motion for continuance (AB 30). Apparently, Appellant is referring to Appellant's trial counsel's statement on page 53 of the record: "[t]o proffer what I think he would say is that that injury could not have been caused from a hammer." However, it is apparent from counsel's statement immediately preceding the above statement, at the time trial counsel made this representation to the court, Appellant's counsel had never even seen the photographs upon which he made the representation, and Dr. Wright had not seen them for many years (R 53). This earlier representation to the court is not sufficient as a proffer to preserve this issue on appeal.

Even had this issue been properly preserved, it is doubtful that Dr. Wright could have testified to anything so significant as to change the outcome of the jury recommendation. The jury did not even consider the aggravating circumstance of the nature of the homicide, and was not determining guilt.

Appellant, citing to the record at pages 803-804, makes the statement that "Dr. Wright's opinion was that there was no forehead injury, or laceration, and that the decomposition of the area of the forehead was caused by enzyme activity which occurs postmortem in an area where there is a skin abrasion." (AB 30). Appellant's statement is not supported by the record. In fact, Dr. Wright testified that he could not say whether or not there were any head injuries to the victim or not (R 803). Dr. Wright's testimony was based on his review of photographs of the victim's body and a review of Dr. Fatteh's autopsy report. He was not present at the autopsy itself (R 796).

It is also unclear how Dr. Wright could testify, where he had not observed any head injuries, as to what type of object could have caused these supposed injuries. It is logical to assume that if he had been allowed to respond that his response would necessarily have been nonresponsive.

Moreover, any supporting testimony which Dr. Wright may have been able to give would only have served to corroborate what was already before the jury through the testimony of Dr. Davis (R 772-773). Thus, any improper exclusion must be considered harmless. There has been no reversible error.

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED PROPERLY WITHIN ITS DISCRETION BY APPOINTING A MEMBER OF THE FLORIDA BAR TO REPRESENT APPELLANT.

Appellant seems to think that he has the option of choosing exactly whom the court shall appoint to represent him. Such is not the law.

First of all, the trial court failed to reappoint Mr. Bush, who represented Appellant during his first two trials, because Appellant told the court, regarding Mr. Bush, "the man is in favor of the death penalty, that's why I have my reservations" (R 21).

Secondly, the trial court did not have the authority to appoint an assistant public defender from another circuit to represent Appellant. Appellant refers to § 27.53(3)(b), Fla.Stat. (1981) (incorrectly cited in Appellant's brief as "Section 27.523(3)(b)) as authority for the court to appoint a public defender to represent an indigent in a conflict situation (AB 36). However, Chapter 27, Fla. Stat. (1981), dealing specifically with the duties of a Public Defender refers to §925.035, Fla. Stat. (1981) for capital cases. The State maintains that it is § 925.035(1), Fla. Stat. (1981), dealing specifically with the unique nature of appointment of counsel in capital cases which must be controlling. It states:

If the public defender appointed to represent two or more defendants found to be insolvent de-

termines that neither he nor his staff can counsel all of the accused without conflict of interest, it shall be his duty to move the court to appoint one or more members of The Florida Bar, who are in no way affiliated with the public defender in his capacity as such or in his private practice, to represent those accused.

The above statute does not provide for the appointment of an Assistant Public Defender from another circuit.

Appointment of counsel is certainly within the discretion of the trial court. The trial judge was not familiar with Mr. Carres and was understandably hesitant to appoint him, even had he the power to do so (R 12). The court could have simply appointed the Public Defender, but at Appellant's request held a hearing to consider private counsel (R 5-25). He should not be heard to complain now.

An indigent has only three representation options:

(1) accept the Public Defender as counsel; (2) retain private counsel at their own expense; or (3) represent themselves after waiving appointment of counsel. Mansfield v. State, 430 So.2d 586, 588 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). He does not get to pick which assistant or special Public Defender will be assigned to his case, although a court could certainly take an accused's request into consideration, as the court did in Costello v. State, 260 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1972).

Messer v. State, 384 So.2d 644 (Fla. 1980) is distinguishable from the case at bar. In that case, this court

specifically stated that "during the pendency of an appeal ...

[where] such hearing is a part of the appellate process ...

it is proper for appointed appellate counsel to represent the appellant at such hearing." <u>Id</u>. at 645. This is certainly different from this case where the appeal had been completed.

Appellant alludes that he had ineffective assistance of counsel. The State maintains that such a claim is entirely unfounded, but even if it had merit it cannot be considered on direct appeal.

Appellant was properly represented by private counsel at his own request, and there was no prejudice in failing to appoint a specific individual requested by the accused where the court did not have the power to appoint him. The court properly exercised its discretion of appointment.

POINT XI

THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT A PRESENTENCE INVESTIGATION REPORT BE ORDERED IN CAPITAL CASES.

Appellant argues that he was prejudiced by the trial court's failure to order a presentence investigation report.

The State contends that there is no requirement that such a report be ordered, and Appellant was not prejudiced.

The committee note to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.710, Presentence Report, states: "Of course, no report is necessary where the specific sentence is mandatory, e.g., the sentence of death or life imprisonment in a verdict of first degree murder." Thus, no report was necessary in the case at bar.

This court has repeatedly held that the ordering of a presentence report is discretionary in a capital case, and the trial court's failure to do so does not constitute reversible error. See e.g., Thompson v. State, 389 So.2d 197 (Fla. 1980); State v. Purwin, 405 So.2d 970 (Fla. 1981); Harich v. State, 437 So.2d 1082, 1086 (Fla. 1983).

Where the trial court has no discretion beyond imposing the death penalty or life imprisonment after a conviction of first degree murder, a presentence report would be unnecessary since the judge should really be basing his decision on the information obtained through the jury sentencing proceeding. Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978). The information provided in a presentence investigation report is

for the purpose of determining alternatives to incarceration, § 921.231 (1)(k), $\underline{Fla.Stat}$. (1981). There was no alternative in the instant case.

Appellant's trial counsel would have been reimbursed for any reasonable costs he incurred while investigating mitigating circumstances. § 925.036, Fla. Stat. (1981). Thus, it was not necessary for Appellant's counsel to rely on a presentence investigation report. There has been no error.

POINT XII

APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW CERTAIN COMMENTS MADE BY THE PROSECUTOR DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT WHERE APPELLANT FAILED TO OBJECT TO THESE COMMENTS AND WHERE THESE COMMENTS DO NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

Appellant alleges that the prosecutor's closing argument contained certain improprieties that are grounds for reversal.

Appellee maintains that Appellant has failed to preserve this issue for appellate review since Appellant failed to object at any time to any part of the prosecutor's closing argument. "When there is an improper comment, the defendant . . . has the obligation to object and . . . [i]f the defendant dant fails to object . . . his silence will be considered an implied waiver." Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 335 (Fla. 1978); State v. Cumbie, 380 So.2d 1031, 1033 (Fla. 1980).

Appellee also maintains that none of the portions of the prosecutor's closing argument to which Appellant objects reach "to the very heart of the proceeding" so as to constitute fundamental error. Appellee maintains that when viewed, as they must be, in the context in which they were made, the prosecutor's comments were proper and reasonable and were not prejudicial or inflammatory. White v. State, 415 So.2d 719, 720 (Fla. 1982); Nelson v. State, 416 So.2d 899, 900 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). As stated in Johnson v. State, 348 So.2d 646,

647 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977), it is not presumed that jurors are led astray to wrongful verdicts by counsel's impassioned eloquence. There is certainly no indication of the jury's being so led in the case <u>sub judice</u>. The prosecutor's comments here were not improper and, even if they were, were not so irradicably prejudicial that any error could not have been waived by Appellant's failure to object. <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 1357, 1359 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980).

Even had these comments been properly preserved, they would not have constituted reversible error. The first comment complained of was a proper comment based on the evidence. <u>Delaney v. State</u>, 342 So.2d 1098, 1099 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977).

The second comment complained of could not possibly have prejudiced Appellant where his guilt had already been determined at the first trial. This court affirmed his conviction in Rose, supra. Therefore, the prosecutor's comment was entirely appropriate, when the prosecutor was only saying that he agreed with the jury verdict.

When the comments complained of were not preserved for appellate review, and did not rise to the level of fundamental error, there has been no reversible error in the instant case.

POINT XIII

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED PROPERLY IN DENYING APPELLANT'S SECOND MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE MADE ON THE DAY OF TRIAL.

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